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Crack Cocaine Changes 


The Fair Sentencing Act (FSA) has changed the minimum mandatory for crack cocaine cases based on a weight ratio of 18:1. This results in triggering drug amounts to get to a 5 year or 10 year minimum mandatory sentencing structure under the statute. Now 28 grams of crack triggers the 5 year minimum while 280 grams triggers the 10 year minimum mandatory.  Last year congress saw H.R. bill number 6548 introduced to make those changes retroactive. This bill did not get through and therefore must be reintroduced this year to have any hope of passing. Contact FAMM and your congressional representatives to encourage them to submit a new bill and when and if one is submitted to support it. The reason the crack law was changed is because it was wrong from the beginning. If it was wrong from the beginning it should not punish those who came before and had to fight for the change.
Crack Law & Retroactivity

For nearly two decades, criminal defense attorneys and social justice activists had bitterly complained about the 100-1 sentencing differential in the federal sentencing guidelines for crack vs. powder cocaine. The guidelines advised judges to sentence those convicted of possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine to, on average, 100 times more jail time than those convicted of possession with intent to distribute powder cocaine, even when the dosage amount of the drugs was the same.

Last year, Congress amended the federal sentencing guidelines to reduce that bias, specifically noting the unfair impact the previous guidelines on urban-dwelling African Americans and Latinos, who were punished far more harshly for cocaine distribution than the typically white, suburban users of powder cocaine. The Fair Sentencing Act of 2010, often referred to as the "Crack Amendment," went into effect in November.

The most important question for many convicted of federal crack offenses is this: Will the sentencing reductions in the Fair Sentencing Act be made retroactive? The U.S. Sentencing Commission recently performed an analysis of what to expect if the Crack Amendment were retroactively applied to all crack offenders convicted before the unfair sentencing scheme was changed. Its conclusion was that an estimated 12,835 would be entitled to resentencing.

FSA Retroactivity Case

United States v. Cox

Western District of Wisconsin

Case No. 3:10-cr-0085-wmc
January 11, 2011


On August 31, 2010, defendant Romail Cox entered a plea to count 1 of the indictment charging him with “knowingly and intentionally possess[ing] with intent to distribute 50 grams or more of a mixture or substance containing crack base (crack cocaine), on or before January 16, 2010, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1).” This plea was entered pursuant to a written agreement between the defendant and the United States dated August 2, 1010, only one day before the enactment and effective date of the Fair Sentencing Act of 2010 and Cox did not sign the agreement until August 12, 2010. The purpose of this order is to memorialize the basis for the court’s oral ruling at the time of sentence that Cox was entitled to application of the FSA’s lower mandatory minimum sentence of 5 years.


Were Cox’s sentence solely based on the date of the offense, there is no dispute that he would be subject to a 10-year mandatory minimum sentence. 21 U.S.C. §841(b)(1)(A)(iii) (2009). The defendant acknowledged the offense to which he pled carried a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of 10 years in his written plea agreement and in open court at his plea hearing. 

The defendant’s advisory guideline imprisonment range was 130-162 months, above even a 1-year mandatory minimum sentence. Pursuant to §5H1.1 of the Advisory Sentencing Guidelines and 18 U.S.C. §3553(a), however, this court determined that an 8-year sentence was called for, concluding that the defendant (1) is still a young man, (2) indicated at least some recognition of the error of his ways, which may now be further reinforced by a lengthy prison term far exceeding any he has served to date, and (3) lacked any indication of violent tendencies for at least ten years. For this reason, it is necessary that the court decide whether an even higher mandatory minimum sentence must be imposed instead.


All circuits to date, including the Seventh Circuit, in United States v. Bell, 624 F.3d 803 (7th Cir. 2010), have concluded that the general Federal Sentencing Statute, 1 U.S.C. §109, operates to bar the retroactive application of the FSA. See Id. At 814-15. United States v. Carradine, 621 F.3d 575, 580 (6th Cir. 2010); United States v. Brewer, 624 F.3d 900, 900 n.7 (8th Cir. 2010); United States v. Lewis, 625 F.3d 1224, 1228 (10th Cir. 2010); United States v. Gomes, 621 F.3d 1343, 1346 (11th Cir. 2010); United States v. Glover, 2010 WL 4250060, *2 (2d Cir. October 27, 2010) (unpublished).


In its brief, the United States of America maintains that the Bell decision controls here as well. Defendant Cox, on the other hand, argues that because he had not yet been sentenced at the time of the FSA’s enactment, indeed had not yet entered a plea of guilty by that date, then the outcome should be different from Bell. No circuit court has yet weighed in on this factual distinction, though defendant cites a growing list of district courts around the country finding that the new, reduced mandatory minimum for crack cocaine should be applicable to any defendant sentenced after the enactment date of the FSA. See, e.g., United States v. Johnson, 08-cr-270-Orl-31 KRS (M.D. FL Jan. 4, 2011) (Presnell, J.); United States v. Favors, 1:10-cr-384-LY-1, Doc. No. 34 (W.D. TX Nov. 23, 2010) (Yeakel, J.); United States v. Johnson, 3:10-CR-138, Doc. No. 26 (E.D. Va Dec. 7, 2010) (Payne, J.); United States v. Douglas, 2010 WL 4260221 (D. Me Oct. 27, 2010) (Hornby, J.); United States v. Angelo, 1:10-cr-10004RWZ (D. Ma Oct. 29, 2010) (Zobel, J.); United States v. Shelby, 2:09-cr-0379-CJB Doc. No. 49 (E.D. La Nov. 10, 2010) (Barbee, J.); United States v. Roscoe, 1:10-cr-126-JTN (W.D. MI) (Neff, J.); United States v. Whitfield, 2:10-cr-13 (N.D. MS Dec. 21, 2010) (Mills, C.J.).

Where this court parts company with the government is in its assertion that Bell has rejected the possibility that the FSA by its terms applies retroactively to offenders not yet sentenced. Predicting how the Seventh Circuit and potentially the Supreme Court will ultimately come out on this question is admittedly difficult. But it is no great stretch to find Congress’s statements about the urgent need to remedy an unfair sentencing scheme between powder and crack cocaine offenses as a sufficient expression of intent to apply the FSA to those offenders who both enter a plea and are sentenced after its enactment.


Bell does not even discuss the core argument of the defendant or other district courts. Congress’s overwhelming, non-partisan intent to remedy disparities in sentencing between powder cocaine and crack cocaine establish its intent to apply the FSA’s mandatory minimums to those awaiting sentencing for crack cocaine offenses. While the Bell court implicitly rejected this argument with respect to those already sentenced by district courts at the time of enactment, this court is persuaded that the structure, language and context of the FSA is sufficiently strong to find Congress intended for the reduced mandatory minimum sentencing provisions to be applied to offenders yet to be sentenced.


Congress’s intent can be best discerned in the FSA’s express directive that:

The United States Sentencing Commission shall (1) promulgate the guidelines, policy statements, or amendments provided for in this Act as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than 90 days after the date of enactment of this Act, in accordance with the procedure set forth in section 21(a) of the Sentencing Act of 1987 (28 U.S.C. 994 note), as though the authority under that Act had not expired; and (2) pursuant to the emergency authority provided under paragraph (1), make such conforming amendments to the Federal sentencing guidelines as the Commission determines necessary to achieve consistency with other guidelines provisions and applicable law.

Pub. L. No 111-120, 124 Stat. 2372 (Aug. 3, 2010).


The urgency to amend the sentencing guidelines “as soon as practicable” is consistent with the FSA’s larger goal of “restor[ing] fairness to federal cocaine sentencing.” Preamble, Fair Sentencing Act of 2010. As members of Congress repeatedly noted during deliberations over the FSA, the issue of fairness was punctuated by the decidedly unbalanced impact of higher crack cocaine minimums on African-Americans and Latinos.

In United States v. Douglas, 2010 WL 4260221 (D. Me. October 27, 2010), Judge Hornsby distinguished post-sentence cases under the Savings Clause from that presented by the FSA with respect to pre-sentence cases, noting that:


The explicit congressional grant of emergency guideline amendment authority and the mandate of “consistency” and “conforming” amendments, coupled with the express language of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984 (the the Guidelines in effect on the day of sentencing control irrespective of when offense conduct occurred), unmistakenly demonstrate Congress’ urgency and expectation of immediate change.

Id. At *5. As Judge Hornby explained: “I would find it gravely disquieting to apply hereafter a sentence penalty that Congress has declared to be unfair.” Id. At *6 n. 57. So, too, I. But see, United States v. Acoff, __F.3d__ (2nd Cir. Feb. 9, 2011) No. 10-285-cr. 
Consent to Search Conflicts

Ruiz v. Florida

No. 4D09-1544

January 12, 2011

This case is a paradigm for a type of case that is common in our courts, where “consent” to a search is found under objectively questionable circumstances.


Freddie Ruiz was charged with trafficking in cocaine and possession of cannabis. He moved to suppress, alleging that the evidence was the product of an unlawful search and seizure. The trial court denied the motion and Ruiz appealed.


At the hearing on the motion, detectives testified they received an anonymous tip that a person with dreadlocks was selling narcotics from a certain apartment. The same afternoon that the police received the tip, two detectives drove to the location and parked across the street. After a few minutes, Ruiz left the apartment. He had dreadlocks.


The detectives drove their unmarked car into the parking lot of the complex. They got out of their car and “nonchalantly” or “casually” approached Ruiz. One detective “calmly” asked Ruiz his name and he “calmly” replied that it was “Freddie” and that “he had his identification in his apartment, if [the officer] would like to see it.” One detective said that he wanted to see it and Ruiz led the two law enforcement agents up to his apartment. Ruiz went inside and “motioned” or “nodded” at the detectives to enter, so they went inside. Ruiz walked through the living room into the bedroom; one detective followed and waited at the entrance to the bedroom. From this vantage point, the detective saw a scale and silver spoon with cocaine residue in the scoop part of the spoon. The detective asked Ruiz if the substance was cocaine, and Ruiz admitted it was. The detectives then “detained” Ruiz and read him his Miranda rights. Ruiz was most cooperative – he told them that additional cocaine was located in a Barbasol shaving cream can and “weed” was inside his dresser drawer.


Ruiz also testified at the suppression hearing. His version of events differed substantially from that of the detectives. Ruiz was on his way back from the store when three officers stopped their vehicle in front of him, jumped out with their guns drawn, and told him not to move. Ruiz did not think he was free to leave. One officer frisked him and asked for his identification. Ruiz said he did not have any identification and the police said they would arrest him if he could not produce some identification. Ruiz said that his identification was in his apartment. The officers escorted him to his apartment. After he opened the door, the officers went inside and searched through everything. Ruiz did not give the officers permission to enter his residence.


The trial judge found the officers “very credible” and Ruiz’s “testimony” “not credible.” Based on the “totality of the circumstances,” the court found that “this was a citizen’s encounter” where Ruiz “allowed” the police to “come in” to his apartment.


Whether consent is voluntary is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. McDonnell v. State, 981 So. 2d 585, 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008). “Consent to search may be in the form of conduct, gestures, or words.” State v. Gomez, 34 So. 3d 245, 247 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). To decide whether a consent is voluntary, courts consider a number of factors, including the time and place of the encounter, the number of police officers present, the officers’ words and actions, and the age, education, or mental condition of the person detained. Hardin v. State, 18 So. 3d 1246, 1248 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); State v. Evans, 9 So. 3d 767, 769 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). “[A] private home, as here, is an area where a person enjoys the highest reasonable expectation of privacy under the Fourth Amendment[.] [S]ee, e.g., Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 585, 589-90 (1980). [Therefore,] the factors bearing on the voluntariness of a consent to search a home must be scrutinized with special care.” Gonzalez v. State, 578 So. 2d 729, 734 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (parallel citations omitted). Central to the idea of a consensual encounter “is the notion that if a reasonable person would feel free to end the police encounter, but does not, and is not compelled by the police to remain and continue the interaction, then he or she has consented to the encounter.” Golphin v. State, 945 So. 2d 1174, 1182 (Fla. 2006).


Over time, the concept of “consent” to a search has become divorced from its common meaning. In the Fourth Amendment context, “consent” has come to mean that set of circumstances that the law will tolerate as an exception to the probable cause or warrant requirement. What passes for “consent” today would not have survived a motion to suppress 25 years ago. Now, even aggressive conduct by the police will not necessarily vitiate “consent” when viewed as a part of the “totality of the circumstances.” Thus in Golphin v. State, the Supreme Court rejected the concept that, as a matter of law, an otherwise consensual encounter matures into a seizure when an officer retains a person’s identification to conduct a check for outstanding warrants. Id. At 1187-89. Similarly, in Caldwell v. State, 41 So. 3d 188 (Fla. 2010), the Supreme Court held that the administration of Miranda warnings, as a matter of law, does not transform a consensual encounter into a seizure. Under Golphin and Caldwell, the challenged police conduct was but one factor to be considered in the totality of the circumstances.


The “totality of the circumstances” approach has expanded the concept of “consent” in a way that has had a significant effect on the administration of criminal justice. It allows a trial court to rely on other factors that swallow aggressive police conduct and contract the limits of Fourth Amendment protection.


In many cases, the police rely upon a defendant’s voluntary consent to justify a search or a stop. One possibility is that citizens, especially those involved in crimes, have a desire to cooperate with the police to avoid making waves. Another possibility, far more sinister, is that the police have come recognize that “consent” is the catch-all exception to the Fourth Amendment, so they tailor their testimony accordingly.


The profusion of consent cases requires trial judges, the gate keepers of the Fourth Amendment, to critically evaluate the testimony given at hearings. On the pages of the record, the story told by the police is unbelievable – an anonymous informant gives incriminating information; police surveillance uncovers no criminal conduct; the defendant is “nonchalantly” and “casually” approached by the police on the street; the defendant cooperatively leads the police back to his apartment to obtain his identification and invites the police inside, where a detective sees contraband in plain view, a fact certainly known to the defendant when he issued the invitation; after his arrest, the defendant tells the police about all the hidden drugs in the apartment.


Yet, as an appellate court, we must defer to the express finding of credibility made by the trial court. We were not there. We did not see the witnesses testify. If believed, the detectives’ testimony supports the court’s ruling. This case demonstrates the importance of an independent judiciary. This case involves the search of a person’s home, but were the factors bearing on the voluntariness of the consent scrutinized “with special care?” Without an unbiased and objective evaluation of testimony, judges devolve into rubber stamps for law enforcement. The judge may have punctiliously performed the duties of his office in this case, but, when considering the large number of “consent” cases that have come before us, the finding of “consent” in so many curious circumstances is a cause for concern.

Affirmed.
Appeals Court Holds that Email Privacy 

Protected by Fourth Amendment

In a landmark decision issued December 14, 2010 in the criminal appeal of U.S. v. Warshak, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled that the government must have a search warrant before it can secretly seize and search emails stored by email service providers. Closely tracking arguments made by EFF in its amicus brief, the court found that email users have the same reasonable expectation of privacy in their stored email as they do in their phone calls and postal mail.

Given the fundamental similarities between email and traditional forms of communication [like postal mail and telephone calls], it would defy common sense to afford emails lesser Fourth Amendment protection…It follows that email requires strong protection under the Fourth Amendment; otherwise the Fourth Amendment would prove an ineffective guardian of private communication, an essential purpose it has long been recognized to serve…[T]he police may not storm the post office and intercept a letter, and they are likewise forbidden from using the phone system to make a clandestine recording of a telephone call – unless they get a warrant, that is. It only stands to reason that, if government agents compel an ISP to surrender the contents of a subscriber’s emails, those agents have thereby conducted a Fourth Amendment search, which necessitates compliance with the warrant requirement…
Drug-sniffing dogs in traffic stops often wrong


Drug-sniffing dogs can give police probable cause to root through cars by the roadside, but state data show the dogs have been wrong more often than they have been right about whether vehicles contain drugs or paraphernalia. The dogs are trained to dig or sit when they smell drugs, which triggers automobile searches. But a Tribune analysis of three years of data for suburban departments found that only 44 percent of those alerts by the dogs led to the discovery of drugs or paraphernalia. For Hispanic drivers, the success rate was just 27 percent.


Dog-handling officers and trainers argue the canine teams’ accuracy shouldn’t be measured by the number of alerts that turn up drugs. They said the scent of drugs or paraphernalia can linger in a car after drugs are used or sold, and the dogs’ roses are so sensitive they can pick up residue from drugs that can no longer be found in a car.


Advocates for the use of drug-sniffing dogs agree with experts who say many dog-and-officer teams are poorly trained and prone to false alerts that lead to unjustified searches. Leading a dog around a car too many times or spending too long examining a vehicle, for example, can cause a dog to give a signal for drugs where there are none, experts said.

(From: www.chicagotribune.com, December 21, 2010)

CHILD PORNOGRAPHY UPDATES

United States v. Jerchower

Case No. 09-13795

11th Cir. January 25, 2011

From the opinion:


Seth Jerchower appeals his sentence, imposed following his guilty plea to one count of using interstate commerce to attempt to induce a minor to engage in sexual activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2422(b). Jerchower asserts that the district court incorrectly included in his offense level calculation a two-level enhancement under U.S.S.G. §2G1.3(b)(2)(B), which applies when a participant has “unduly influenced a minor to engage in prohibited sexual conduct,” because the only “minor” involved in his case was an undercover law enforcement officer posing as an underage child. Although this circuit had previously held that the enhancement could apply in such cases, after the date of Jerchower’s sentencing hearing the commentary to the U.S. Sentencing guidelines was amended by Amendment 732 to state that the undue influence enhancement does not apply when the only “minor” involved is an undercover officer. Jerchower claims, and we agree, that Amendment 732 is a clarifying amendment that should be applied retroactively on this appeal of his sentence.


In enacting Amendment 732, the Sentencing Commission explained that it aimed to address the conflict between this Court and the Sixth and Seventh circuits as to whether the enhancement could apply when the only “minor” involved is an undercover officer. United States Sentencing Commission, guidelines Manuar, Supp. To App. C (Nov. 2009). The Commission resolved this conflict by amending the commentary to §2G1.3 and §2A3.2 – an identical provision applying to the crime of sexual abuse of a minor under age 16 – to provide that the undue influence enhancements under those Guidelines “do [] not apply in a case in which the only ‘minor’ involved in the offense is an undercover law enforcement officer.” Id. According to the Commission, “the undue influence enhancement should not apply in a case involving only an undercover law enforcement officer because, unlike other enhancements in the sex offense guidelines, the undue influence enhancement is properly focused on the effect of the defendant’s actions on the minor’s behavior.” Id.

Examining Amendment 732 in light of our case law, we conclude that it is a clarifying amendment. The amendment alters only the commentary, rather than the text of the Guideline itself, suggesting that it clarifies §2G1.3 rather than substantively alters it. Moreover, the amendment is by way of a supplement rather than an alteration to the existing commentary, further suggesting that the Commission’s intent was to clarify. In addition, although the amendment was not listed as retroactive in §1B1.10(c) and it is not specifically identified as “clarifying” in the amendment commentary, the Commission’s explanation of the reason for the amendment makes clear its clarifying nature. The amendment aimed to address a circuit split that arose from differing resolutions of conflicting language in the Guidelines commentary. The Commission resolved the conflict by explaining that “unlike other enhancements in the sex offense guidelines, the undue influence enhancement is properly focused on the effect of the defendant’s actions on the minor’s behavior.” United States Sentencing Commission, Guidelines Manual, Supp. To App. C (Nov. 2009). Finally, although the amendment overturns our circuit’s precedent, it may be considered clarifying because it clarified a meaning inherent in the original Guideline: that the application of the enhancement depended on the effect of the defendant’s behavior on the victim, as suggested by Application Note 3.


Because Amendment 732 is a clarifying amendment, it applies retroactively on Jerchower’s direct appeal of his sentence. Applying the amended Guideline, we hold that it was error to add two levels to Jerchower’s offense level based on application of the undue influence enhancement. We therefore vacate Jerchower’s sentence and remand this case to the district court for resentencing.
OFFENSE CONDUCT

3rd circuit upholds rejection of §2G2.2 in favor of mandatory minimum five-year sentence.  Defendant pled guilty to child pornography counts. The court, troubled by the 235-293 month sentencing range recommended by the Guidelines, conducted an extensive sentencing hearing, and ultimately sentenced defendant to the mandatory minimum sentence of five years. The court issued a lengthy opinion on why it believed that §2G2.2 was flawed and should not be given deference in the typical downloading case. The government argued on appeal that the district court committed procedural error when it categorically rejected §2G2.2 without adequately addressing its arguments. The Third Circuit held that the court adequately considered the rationales behind the child porn penalties and set forth a sufficiently compelling justification for the sentence it imposed. There was no doubt from the thousands of pages of transcript and briefing and opinion that the court recognized the concept that abused children are re-victimized whenever the records of their abuse are viewed. However, the court explained why it found §2G2.2 flawed, and why it varied from the recommended sentencing range. The court’s action was supported by recent Sentencing Commission reports and district court’s opinions finding §2G2.2 flawed. U.S. v. Grober, 624 F.3d 592 (3rd Cir. 2010).
9th Circuit upholds departure based on crack-powder disparity for career offender. Defendant was convicted of distributing 52 grams of crack cocaine. Based on his prior convictions, he qualified as a career offender, and his resulting Sentencing Guidelines range was 262 to 327 months. At sentencing, the district court departed downward by 43 months based on the disparity between the guidelines for powder and crack cocaine. The Ninth Circuit held that a district court may depart downward based on the disparity between crack and powder cocaine even where the defendant was sentenced as a career offender. U.S. v. Mitchell, __F.3d__ (9th Cir. Oct. 20, 2010) No. 08-50429.
10th Circuit says entirely suspended drug-trafficking sentence is not a prior sentence under illegal re-entry guideline.  Defendant pled guilty to illegal reentry after deportation after an aggravated felony conviction. The prior offense was a felony drug trafficking offense for which he received an entirely suspended sentence. At issue was whether defendant should receive a 12-level enhancement under §2L1.2(b)(1)(B) for a prior felony drug trafficking conviction “for which the sentence imposed was 13 months or less,” or an eight-level enhancement for an aggravated felony under §2L1.2(b)(1)(C). The Tenth Circuit held that when a defendant has received an entirely suspended sentence for a prior felony drug trafficking offense, no sentence is “imposed,” and the district court should apply the eight-level enhancement. The Fifth and Ninth Circuits have reached the same conclusion. U.S. v. Huyoa-Jimenez, __F.3d__ (10th Cir. Oct. 21, 2010) No. 09-1570.
6th Circuit remands crack career offender sentence in light of Kimbrough.  Defendant pled guilty to two crack-cocaine charges, and was sentenced as a career offender. He requested a remand in light of Kimbrough and Spears because the career offender provisions incorporate the 100:1 crack-to-powder cocaine ratio. He contended that this ratio was entangled in the career offender guidelines, such that a court’s categorical disagreement with the ratio might also support a district court’s rejection of the career offender enhancement. Here, it was unclear from the sentencing transcript whether the district court would have imposed the same sentence if it had been aware of its authority to vary from the career offender guidelines based on a policy disagreement with the 100:1 crack-powder ratio. Based on U.S. v. Johnson, 553 F.3d 990 (6th Cir. 2009), the Sixth Circuit remanded for resentencing. U.S. v. Curb, __F.3d__ (6th Cir. Nov. 18, 2010) No. 07-5286.

CRIMINAL HISTORY

5th Circuit says prosecution breached the plea agreement by supporting career offender sentence.  Defendant pled guilty to drug charges pursuant to a plea agreement which stipulated that his base offense level was 30. The parties acknowledged in the agreement that the court was “not bound by these agreements [and] that other specific offense characteristic or guideline adjustments may increase or decrease the appropriate range.” The PSR recommended an increase in offense level to 37 based on defendant’s status as a career offender. The Fifth Circuit held that the prosecution breached the plea agreement at sentencing by supporting the career offender sentence. First, the career offender increase is not a “guideline adjustment” to a base offense level, but replaces the base offense level under certain conditions. Second, it was not unreasonable for defendant to believe the plea agreement precluded the government from supporting the application of the career offender guideline. Although the agreement permitted the government to argue for “offense characteristics or guideline adjustments,” it did not contemplate that the government would argue for a new base offense level different from the one stipulated in the plea agreement. U.S. v. Roberts, __F.3d__ (5th Cir. Oct. 15, 2010) No. 09-40268.

6th Circuit remands to determine nature of prior escape conviction.  At sentencing, the district court found that defendant was an armed career criminal under 18 U.S.C. §924(e) based in part on his escape conviction under Ohio law. After he was sentenced, the Supreme Court held in Chambers v. U.S., 129 S.Ct. 687 (2009), that a least one type of escape conviction under Illinois law, failure to report for penal confinement, is not a violent felony under the ACCA. The Sixth Circuit remanded for the district court to determine the nature of defendant’s escape conviction. Here, it was not clear what type of escape defendant was convicted of committing. U.S. v. Gross, __F.3d__ (6th Cir. Oct. 19, 2010) No. 08-4051.

7th Circuit holds that intrafamilial sexual abuse was not crime of violence.  Defendant was sentenced as a career offender based in part on the district court’s finding that his prior conviction under a now-repealed Minnesota law for “intrafamilial sexual abuse” was a crime of violence. The Seventh Circuit found that under the Supreme Court’s recent decision in Begay v. United States, 553 U.S. 137 (2008), and its own interpretation of Begay in U.S. v. McDonald, 592 F.3d 808 (7th Cir. 2010), defendant’s Minnesota conviction did not qualify as a crime of violence. A person is guilty of “intrafamilial sexual abuse” if he has a familial relationship and engages in sexual penetration with a child. The statute did not categorically or typically involve “violent and aggressive conduct” of a nature similar to the offense enumerated in the definition of a crime of violence. The Minnesota statute was broad, and applied even if the sexual activity was consensual. Moreover, the familial relationship could be satisfied by an unrelated adult who merely resided in the same home as the child. Nonetheless, the actual conduct that led to defendant’s prior conviction could be considered by the district court under 18 U.S.C. §3553(a) as part of defendant’s history and characteristics. U.S. v. Sonnenberg, _F.3d_ (7th Cir. Dec. 8, 2010) No. 09-2801.

Supreme Court to decide if ACCA is triggered by penalty for prior offense at time of sentencing. Under the Armed Career Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C. §924(e), a defendant convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §922(g), must receive a mandatory 15-year sentence if he has three or more convictions for a drug-trafficking offense carrying a maximum term of imprisonment of 10 years or more. Defendant had a prior conviction for drug-trafficking under North Carolina law. At the time he committed that offense, the maximum sentence was 10 years. However, by the time defendant was convicted of violating §922(g), North Carolina had reduced the maximum to 30 months. The Supreme Court granted certiorari to decide whether a court should consider the maximum penalty for a prior offense at the time of sentencing or at the time when the defendant committed the prior offense. McNeil v. U.S., _U.S._, 131 S.Ct. _ (Jan. 7, 2011) (granting certiorari).

DETERMINING THE SENTENCE

9th Circuit upholds BOP policy on spending end of sentence in halfway house.  Prior to 2008, the Bureau of Prisons could place a federal inmate in a halfway house only during the last six months of the inmate’s sentence. In 2008, Congress amended 18 U.S.C. §3624(c) to allow the BOP to place an inmate in a halfway house for the last 12 months of his sentence. BOP issued regulations requiring individualized consideration of every inmate’s reentry into society but creating a presumption that an inmate would not be placed in a halfway house until the final six months of his sentence. The Ninth Circuit held that the BOP regulations represented a reasonable interpretation of §3624(c). The court also upheld BOP’s decision to promulgate the new policy without notice-and-comment rulemaking.  Sacora v. Thomas, __F.3d__ (9th Cir. Dec. 6, 2010) No. 10-35553.
SENTENCING HEARING
7th Circuit reverses where sentencing court relied on non-existent fact.  Defendant was convicted of drug and firearms charges. Defendant was born in Mexico, and had entered the U.S. with his family in 1998, pursuant to a lawfully-issued via. His family left the country in 2002, but defendant remained in the country illegally. At sentencing, the court incorrectly noted several times that defendant had already been deported from the country before and returned illegally to deal methamphetamine. Neither party objected to these statements. The Seventh Circuit reversed, ruling that the district court’s reliance on a non-existent fact affected defendant’s substantial rights and constituted plain error. There was a substantial chance that the district court’s misapprehension played a significant role in the court’s choice of defendant’s sentence. In stating its reasons for the sentence it imposed, the court referred to defendant’s supposed prior removal and reentry into the United States three times. The very first factor the court addressed was the supposed removal and reentry. U.S. v. Corona-Gonzalez, __F.3d__ (7th Cir. Dec. 2, 2010) No. 09-3993.
PLEA AGREEMENTS
7th Circuit rules prosecutor’s mistaken recommendation of sentence at top of guideline range breached plea agreement. In exchange for his defendant’s guilty plea, the government agreed to recommend a sentence at the bottom of the defendant’s 18-24 sentencing months. At sentencing, however, the prosecutor initially recommended that defendant be sentenced at the top of the range. When defense counsel objected, the prosecutor admitted his mistake and continued: “I think, Judge, the point is that significant sentence needs to be meted out so that it is aversive enough to keep the Defendant from coming back. The reality of whether it’s 18 months or greater, that is still a significant period of time. And we’d ask the Court to impose that low end of the guideline range, not greater than is necessary to achieve the result. I suppose a larger sentence could be appropriate, but that is the least amount that is necessary to achieve the desired result.” The Seventh Circuit held that the prosecutor’s initial mistaken recommendation constituted a serious breach of the plea agreement, and remanded for resentencing. The prosecutor may have been able to correct the error by making an unequivocal retraction, but he undermined his correction by stating that a larger sentence “could be appropriate.” U.S. v. Diaz-jimenez, __F.3d__ (7th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010) No. 10-1988.

1st Circuit says appeal waiver not binding where court did not follow recommendation in plea agreement.  Defendant’s plea agreement calculated a guideline range of 30-37 months, and acknowledged that the parties would jointly recommend a sentence at the bottom of the applicable range. The agreement also contained a waiver of appeal, which stated that if the district court accepted the agreement and sentenced defendant “according to the sentencing recommendations contemplated [in the Agreement],” then defendant would be deemed to have surrendered any right to appeal. The district court sentenced defendant to 33 months in prison, and defendant appealed. The First Circuit held that the waiver did not bar defendant’s appeal. Under the terms of the agreement, the waiver did not apply because the district court did not sentence defendant according to the recommendations in the agreement. U.S. v. Fernandez-Cabrera, __F.3d__ (1st Cir. Nov. 5, 2010) No. 09-2655.
ADJUSTMENTS

7th Circuit remands for court to reconsider whether defendant should receive minor role reduction.  Defendant, a long-haul truck driver, was convicted of drug conspiracy charges based on a single occasion when he transported drug money. The district court sentenced defendant to 293 months’ imprisonment, the high end of the advisory guideline. Defendant appealed, arguing that in light of his limited involvement in the large-scale conspiracy, the district court erred when it found that he did not qualify for a minor participant reduction under §3B1.2. Since there was no evidence in the record of any involvement beyond the single transport of money, the Seventh Circuit remanded for the district court to reconsider whether defendant should receive the minor role adjustment. The district court twice stated that it was clear that defendant was far more than a courier, and that the evidence established a much wider participation in the conspiracy. However, there was no evidence in the record that defendant was involved in this conspiracy on more than one solitary occasion, or that his involvement was anything other than merely transporting money. U.S. v. Saenz, __F.3d__ (7th Cir. Oct. 13, 2010) No. 09-3647.
DEPARTURES AND BOOKER VARIANCES
7th Circuit finds below-guidelines sentence for drug conspiracy was not unreasonable.  Defendant pled guilty to conspiracy to possess and distribute heroin, cocaine, and crack. The district court found that defendant’s advisory guideline range was 292-365 months, but it sentenced defendant to 270 months. Defendant argued that the sentence was substantively unreasonable because of his youth, the fact that no comparable defendant was sentenced as long, and the unfair disparity in crack cocaine penalties. The Seventh Circuit held that the district court did not abuse its discretion when sentencing defendant to a below-range sentence. A sentence within the Guidelines range is presumptively reasonable, thus it follows that a sentence below that range also is not presumptively too high. Here, the court considered and applied the §3553(a) factors. U.S. v. Curb, __F.3d__ (7th Cir. Nov. 16, 2010) No. 09-2510.

7th Circuit remands despite sentence at bottom range where court made inflammatory remarks. Defendant was convicted of drug charges, and received a 235-month sentence, which fell at the low end of his advisory guideline range. At the sentencing hearing, the judge digressed to discuss defendant’s native Mexico, the immigration status of defendant and his sisters, and the conditions and laws in half a dozen other countries, not to mention unnecessary references to Hugo Chavez, Iranian terrorists, and Adolph Hitler’s dog. The Seventh Circuit remanded to ensure that the district court’s choice of sentence was based only on criteria that Congress authorized in 18 U.S.C. §3553. The fact that defendant received a within-guidelines sentence did not make up for the court’s inflammatory comments. There was no way of knowing how, if at all, these extraneous considerations influenced defendant’s sentence. U.S. v. Figuero, __F.3d.__ (7th Cir. Sept. 13, 2010) No. 09-3333.
APPLICATION PRINCIPLES
9th Circuit permits crack reduction motion despite waiver of collateral attack.  Defendant pleaded guilty to possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute it pursuant to a plea agreement that contained a waiver of his right to collaterally attack his sentence. Subsequently, the Sentencing Commission reduced the sentencing range for crack cocaine offenses. Defendant filed a motion under 18 U.S.C. §3582(c)(2), which allows a district court to reduce a sentence that is based on a guideline range subsequently reduced by the Commission. The Ninth Circuit held that defendant’s waiver of his right to collaterally attack his sentence did not bar him from moving to reduce his sentence under §3582(c)(2). U.S. v. Lightfoot, __F.3d__ (9th Cir. Nov. 30, 2010) No. 09-30063.

GUIDELINES SENTENCING
9th Circuit says fact that prior conviction involved minor must be pleaded and proved to jury.  Under 18 U.S.C. §3559(e)(1), a person convicted of a federal sex offense in which a minor is the victim must receive a life sentence if he has a prior sex conviction in which the victim was a minor. Defendant was convicted of sex trafficking a minor. Under that statute, a “minor” is a person under 17 years old. The district court sentenced defendant to life imprisonment because he had a prior conviction in Nevada for child pandering. Nevada defines a child as a person less than 18 years old. The court determined that defendant’s Nevada conviction triggered a life sentence by examining the charging documents, plea colloquy, and plea agreement from that prosecution. The Ninth Circuit held that under §3559(e), proof that the defendant’s prior conviction involved a minor must be established by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt because it increases the defendant’s maximum sentence. U.S. v. Doss, _F.3d_ (9th  Cir. Jan. 14, 2011) No. 07-50334.

From the Federal Sentencing Guide:

Vol. 21, No. 22, October 25, 2010; Vol. 21, No. 24, November 22, 2010; Vol. 21, No. 25, December 6, 2010; Vol. 21, No. 26 December 20, 2010; Vol. 22, No. 1, January 3, 2011, Vol. 22, No. 2, January 17, 2011
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